6

ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE
ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT
Deborah Brooks Durden, Administrative Law Judge

Case No.: 16-ALJ-22-0380-AP
Appellate Case No. 2017-000669

Patricia Crawford,

Respondent,

v.

South Carolina Department of Employment
and Workforce and Allserv Inc.,

Appellants.

RECEIVED

JUN 13 2017

SC Court of Appeals

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Todd S. Timmons (SC Bar # 100249)
Deputy General Counsel
SC Dept. of Employment and Workforce
Post Office Box 8597
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 737-0395
Attorney for Appellant DEW

Reyburn W. Lominack, III (SC Bar # 72833)
Sheila M. Bias (SC Bar # 100005)
Fisher & Phillips

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

An employee who voluntarily leaves work, without good cause, is disqualified from receiving unemployment insurance benefits. A resignation letter is not needed to show an employee voluntarily left – she may be charged with voluntarily leaving by action or inaction with unavoidable ramifications. Patricia Crawford threatened to quit, removed her belongings, and did not report to work. Does substantial evidence support the Department of Employment and Workforce's finding that Crawford voluntarily left work?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

After separating from her employment with Appellant Allserv Inc. (“Allserv”), Respondent Patricia Crawford filed a claim for unemployment insurance (“UI”) benefits with Appellant South Carolina Department of Employment and Workforce (“DEW,” together with Allserv, “Appellants”) on April 22, 2016. (R.pp.58-65.) On June 2, 2016, a DEW claims adjudicator determined Crawford voluntarily left employment without good cause and, consequently, disqualified her from receiving benefits under S.C. Code § 41-35-120(1). (R.p.89.)

Crawford appealed the adjudicator’s determination to DEW’s Appeal Tribunal (“Tribunal”), which held a hearing on Crawford’s claim on July 6, 2016. (R.pp.90-268.) The Tribunal affirmed the determination, finding Crawford disqualified from receiving UI benefits because she voluntarily left employment without good cause. (R.pp.269-70.)

Crawford appealed to DEW’s Appellate Panel (“Panel”). (R.pp.271-73.) On August 27, 2016, the Panel mailed a “Notice of Hearing before the Appellate Panel” to Crawford and Allserv informing the parties of the hearing for September 6, 2016. (R.pp.10-11.) Allserv’s counsel attended the hearing, but Crawford did not appear. On September 8, 2016, the Panel issued Decision No. 2016-P-10234, affirming the Tribunal’s finding and the resulting disqualification. (R.pp.53-57.) On September 27, 2016, the Panel received a “Request for Appeal Reconsideration” from Crawford. (R.pp.13-15.)

On October 6, 2016, Crawford appealed the Panel's decision to the Administrative Law Court ("ALC"), and on February 23, 2017, the ALC issued an Order reversing the Panel's decision. (R.pp.1-5.) DEW timely filed a Notice of Appeal from the ALC's decision on March 14, 2017.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. Background

Crawford worked for Allserv as a Corporate Secretary from November 9, 2014, through April 18, 2016. (R.p.110, lines 2-3; R.pp.203, lines 12-17.) Allserv stated in response to Crawford's application for UI benefits that she verbally resigned:

[Crawford] verbally stated on 4/14/2016 that she was going to find another job and that she no longer could work here if other employees were not being disciplined. On 4/17/2016 [Crawford] worked and sent text message to a manager she packed her things. She also sent a text message to her supervisor that she had completed tasks and she would not be in on Monday. Upon arrival on Monday 4/18/2016 [Crawford]'s desk had been cleaned out of all personal effects.

(R.p.71.)

Crawford, on the other hand, denied resigning:

. . . I was told to take a day off to think about whether I wanted to continue working so I did. When I asked to schedule a meeting with owner and VP . . . , I received a text from VP Tanya Calvin which indicated I had resigned which is not true and I have text documentation of this event.

(R.p.8.)

At the hearing, the hearing officer entered into the record Agency Exhibit 1, which included, a two-page statement and text messages submitted by Crawford during fact-finding. (R.p.107, lines 1-30.) Allserv introduced 18 pages of additional

text messages as Employer Exhibit 1. (R.p.167, line 8 – R.p.168, line 14.) Employer also introduced a one-page email from Crawford as Employer Exhibit 2. (R.p.192, line 10 – R.p.195, line 7.)

II. Employer Witness Testimony before the Tribunal

Vice President Tanya Calvin testified for Allserv at the Tribunal hearing. Calvin explained she had a conversation with Crawford at work on Thursday, April 14, 2016, at which time Crawford stated, “I’ve had enough of this, I don’t need this job, this isn’t worth it to me, I’m going to find somewhere else to work.” (R.p. 204, lines 1-15.)

After the April 14th conversation, Crawford worked at least part of the day on Friday, April 15th, Saturday, April 16th, and Sunday, April 17th. Over the weekend, Crawford sent Calvin over twenty (20) texts laced with profanity and expressing dissatisfaction over work matters, to which Calvin responded: “Go spend the day with your family. Quit working.” (R.pp.257-65.)

Calvin testified that on Sunday, April, 17th, she received a text from Crawford stating she would not be in Monday. (R.p.204, lines 1-15.) Specifically, Crawford texted: “All my paperwork is caught up, I’ve filed and will do checks in just a minute after Kris is done with my computer. I will not be in tomorrow.” (R.p. 264.)

The following day (Monday morning), Calvin learned Crawford had cleaned out her desk and removed her personal belongings. (R.p.204, lines 1-15.) Calvin explained that because of this and Crawford’s repeated threats to quit, most recently

on April 14th, she considered Crawford's declaration that she would "not be in tomorrow" to be a resignation:

On Thursday, . . . she had gotten upset about something one of the managers had not done for her, she rant[ed] and raved her hands up in the air as she's done before, stating I've had enough of this, I don't need this job, this isn't worth it to me, I'm going to find somewhere else to work. So, when I came into the office on that Monday, I took that she actually did quit, that she abandoned her job.

(Id.)

III. Crawford's Testimony before the Tribunal

Crawford testified she was "burnt out," her frustration was at its "all time high," she was tired of working weekends, she felt underappreciated, and the workplace "would push any reasonable person out of the door." (R.p.189, lines 4-16; R.p.143, line 195 – R.p.199, line 3.) Text messages show Crawford had previously threatened to quit if she did not get what she wanted:

FYI . . . if I don't get everything I've asked for from the managers . . . I won't be there Monday Tuesday or ever again . . . I have no intention of doing my job half ass and these asswipes will not lazily force me into doing their jobs for them. Hahaha this is no April fools joke.

(R.p.250.)

Crawford also texted with Allserv's business consultant Kris Mitchell during the time period in question. (R.pp. 236-238.) Although Crawford testified Mitchell told her, "You should take Monday off to consider if you can continue working here with what's going on" (R.p.120, line 19 – R.p.121, line 2), the text message shows Mitchell actually texted: "Should take a day away without answering phone and think it through. Make sure it is what you want to do." (R.p.236.) Mitchell is not an

Allserv employee and, according to Calvin, did not have authority to grant leave requests. (R.p.160, lines 1-12; R.p.208, line 22 – R.p.209, line 3.) Crawford texted back that she enjoyed her job but that she “really need[s] to think about whether or not I can learn how to deal with [the work environment].” (R.p.237.) She continued, “. . . Chances are I’ll be back on Tuesday or whenever but I need to make sure my family is in agreement. Some of the bs [sic] has taken a toll on them as well.” (*Id.*)

Despite the above evidence, notably the text reading, “if I don’t get everything I’ve asked for . . . I won’t be there Monday Tuesday or ever again . . . ,” Crawford insisted at the Tribunal hearing that she never said she was quitting or looking for work elsewhere. (R.p.118, lines 16-19; R.p.162, lines 9-11.) According to Crawford, Calvin brought up her own aggravations with the company and she (Crawford) merely concurred with that sentiment. (R.p.118, lines 1-9.)

However, Crawford admitted that, over the weekend, she cleaned out her desk and took home her pictures, pens, and her daughter’s drawing. (R.p.131, line 19 – R.p.132, line 27.) She testified she did this to “declutter” and update her personal photographs. (*Id.*) Yet she revealed in her Notice of Appeal to the ALC that she actually removed belongings “out of frustration” and “to let Allserv know that I had concerns that needed immediate attention.” (R.pp.276-82)²

² Respondents cited to Crawford’s Notice of Appeal to the ALC in their Initial Brief, but inadvertently left it out of the Record on Appeal filed May 24, 2017. Pursuant to Appellate Rule 212(b), Respondents hereby supplement the Record on Appeal with the consent of all counsel of record, as indicated by their signatures to this Brief. *See Exhibit A* attached hereto.

Crawford further testified that on Monday, April 18th, she received electronic notification that Allserv deactivated her network access. (R.p.121, lines 19-25.) She then texted Calvin and the ensuing text message exchange is in the record. (R.pp.234-35; R.pp.265-67.) Notably, though, Calvin texted Crawford the following:

You told me on Thursday that you had enough and you were [quitting] and finding another job. You have said this before but this time I took you seriously when I came in this morning and found you had removed all of your personal things over the weekend. Jeff and I have accepted your resignation.

(R.p.234; R.p.266.)

In response, Crawford texted that Mitchell gave her permission to take “a few days off” and that she could not have resigned Thursday because she worked three more days. (R.pp.234-35; 266.) At the hearing, she testified she also texted Calvin to “question[] what resignation she was referring to because that never happened.” (R.p.118, line 24 – R.p.119, line 2.) But the text messages in the Record do not contain any such message. (R.pp.234-35; R.p.266.)

IV. The Tribunal and Panel Decisions

The Tribunal found Crawford voluntarily left employment without good cause. (R.pp.269-270.) Crawford appealed and the Panel unanimously affirmed the Tribunal’s decision. (R.pp.56-57.) The Panel explained the basis for its decision as follows:

Given [Crawford’s] comments about looking for work elsewhere, her continued complaining about the work environment, and the removal of her personal belongings from her desk, it was not unreasonable for the employer to assume [Crawford] had followed through on her threat to quit her job. Although [Crawford] maintains she was merely taking a day off to regroup, she did not request that day off from someone

who had the authority to grant it, nor did she confirm . . . that she was going to return to work on April 19, 2016. . . . [Crawford] was frustrated with her work environment and with what she perceived as a lack of action from management to resolve the issues which were making her job difficult. Although [Crawford's] dissatisfaction may have been justified, she had been told the issues would be resolved in the near future when the owner returned. As such, [Crawford] has not presented circumstances which would cause a reasonable person to become totally unemployed rather than continue working. Therefore, we find [Crawford] voluntarily quit without good cause

(R.p.57.)

V. The ALC Order

Crawford appealed the Panel's decision to the ALC. The ALC agreed with Crawford's position that substantial evidence did not support the Panel's decision.

(R.p.2.) Specifically, the ALC found that a review of the evidence in the case did not support the Panel's conclusion that Appellant voluntarily quit. (*Id.*) The ALC determined that while it was clear that Crawford was dissatisfied with her position and that her employer was aware she was considering quitting, there was no evidence that Crawford actually quit. (R.p.3). Citing *Samuel v. S.C. Employment Sec. Comm'n.*, 285 S.C. 476, 477, 300 S.E.2d 300, 301 (1985), the ALC determined that the Record was devoid of evidence of an "action or inaction with unavoidable ramifications taken by [Crawford]." (*Id.*) The ALC found that it was Allserv, not Crawford, who took the action that terminated Crawford's employment – namely deactivating her email account. (*Id.*) Accordingly, the ALC reversed the Panel's decision. (R.p.4). This Appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

I. **Substantial Evidence Supports DEW's Decision that Crawford Voluntarily Left Work, Without Good Cause.**

The ALC re-weighted the evidence in this case, overturned the Panel's holding that Crawford voluntarily left employment, and replaced it with a new factual finding that Allserv ended the employment relationship by deactivating Crawford's network access. However, the "[t]he substantial evidence rule does not allow judicial fact-finding, or the substitution of judicial judgment for agency judgment." *Todd's Ice Cream, Inc. v. S.C. Emp. Sec. Comm'n*, 281 S.C. 254, 258, 315 S.E.2d 373, 375 (Ct. App. 1984). Thus, because there is substantial evidence to support DEW's finding, this Court should reverse.

A. **Standard of Review**

SCDEW is an agency governed by the Administrative Procedures Act (APA). *See Gibson v. Florence Country Club*, 282 S.C. 384, 386, 318 S.E.2d 365, 367 (1984) (finding SCDEW's predecessor, the Employment Security Commission, subject to the APA). Under the APA, a reviewing court:

[M]ay not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. The court may affirm the decision of the agency or remand the case for further proceedings. The court may reverse or modify the decision if substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or

(f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5).

This standard of review is commonly referred to as the “substantial evidence” rule:

“Substantial evidence” is something less than the weight of the evidence; it is evidence which . . . would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion that the administrative agency reached in order to justify its action.

Todd's Ice Cream, Inc., 281 S.C. at 258, 315 S.E.2d at 375. The possibility of drawing different conclusions from the evidence does not mean the agency's conclusion is unsupported by substantial evidence. *Waters v. S.C. Land Resources Conservation Comm'n*, 321 S.C. 219, 226, 467 S.E.2d 913, 917 (1996) (stating the party challenging an agency action bears the burden “to prove convincingly that the agency's decision is unsupported by the evidence.”).

B. Crawford's statements and actions show she resigned.

S.C. Code Ann. § 41-35-120(1) requires disqualification from benefits until the employee has secured employment and earned at least eight times the weekly benefit amount when DEW finds that an employee left work voluntarily, without good cause. A resignation letter is not a prerequisite for a voluntary quit finding because “[a]n employee may be charged with quitting a job **by action or inaction with unavoidable ramifications.**” *Samuel v. S.C. Emp. Sec. Comm'n*, 285 S.C. 476, 477, 330 S.E.2d 300, 301 (1985) (upholding a voluntary quit finding where a claimant did not respond to a letter from her employer stating claimant would be terminated if she did

not apply for a leave of absence) (emphasis added). “To constitute good cause, the circumstances which lead an employee to leave the job must be such as would cause a reasonable person to leave.” 76 Am. Jur. 2d *Unemployment Compensation* § 102.

Whether an employee voluntarily quit employment or was discharged is a factual issue to be determined by DEW. S.C. Code Ann. § 41-35-120(1) (stating “an insured worker is ineligible for benefits . . . [i]f [DEW] finds he left voluntarily, without good cause”). Thus, the Legislature did not intend for reviewing courts to make new factual findings as to whether a claimant voluntarily left or was discharged because “this right is patently given to [DEW], whose duty it is to determine by the testimony and the evidence in each case whether certain facts existed.” *Johnson v. Pratt*, 200 S.C. 315, 20 S.E. 2d 865, 871 (1942) (analyzing similar language in subsection (5) of Section 41-35-120 concerning labor disputes).

This is a well-established principle equally expressed in many jurisdictions. *See, e.g., Matter of Baker*, 147 A.D. 2d 790, 781 (N.Y. App. Div. 1989) (“Clearly, whether a claimant has voluntarily left employment without good cause is a question of fact to be resolved by the Board, and its determination, if supported by substantial evidence, will not be disturbed.”) (internal citations and quotations omitted); *Mississippi Emp’t Sec. Comm’n v. Fortenberry*, 193 So.2d 142, 143 (Miss. 1966) (noting factual determinations in a voluntary quit case are “conclusive upon the [court] on review”). Indeed, the ALC recently rejected a UI claimant’s argument that her returning to the workplace showed the Panel erred in finding she voluntarily quit. *Toney v. South Carolina Dep’t of Emp’t and Workforce and McLeod Reg’l Med. Ct of the Pee*

Dee, Inc., Docket No. 15-ALJ-22-0498-AP (Mar. 23, 2016). In that case, Chief Administrative Law Judge Anderson reiterated that drawing fact-based inferences such as whether an employee intended to resign or not is “the province of the Panel, as a finder of fact”³

Here, the Panel applied Section 41-35-120(1) and unanimously concluded that Crawford threatened to resign if other employees were not disciplined, then later removed her personal belongings from the workplace. In the Panel’s judgment, these facts demonstrated Crawford left work voluntarily without good cause, notwithstanding the fact that she now claims she did not intend to resign. There is ample evidence in the record to support that conclusion.

First, the Record on Appeal contains evidence that Crawford threatened to quit multiple times and issued ultimatums to Allserv. Calvin testified Crawford said, “I don’t need this job, this isn’t worth it to me, I’m going to find somewhere else to work.” (R.p.204, lines 2-15.) Crawford texted Calvin: “. . . if I don’t get everything I’ve asked for . . . I won’t be there Monday Tuesday or ever again” (R.p.250.) Although Crawford denied making certain statements, the Panel was, of course, within its discretion to credit Calvin over Crawford.⁴

³ Though not binding precedent, this case confirms the ALC has, in a case involving comparable facts, affirmed the principle that the Panel has discretion to weigh facts and determine whether they meet the voluntary quit definition set forth in Section 41-35-120(1) and informed by *Samuel, supra*.

⁴ Even in reversing the Panel’s voluntary quit finding, the ALC did not credit Crawford’s claim that she never threatened to seek work elsewhere: “It is also clear that [Crawford] made her concerns clear to [Allserv] and that [Allserv] was aware that she was considering quitting.” (R.p.3.) If nothing else, it is beyond dispute Crawford told Mitchell, a consultant working for Allserv, she wanted to resign.

Second, after working over the weekend without being asked to do so, Crawford texted Calvin that she “won’t be in Monday” and then cleaned out her desk. Crawford claimed at the hearing that she did this to “update” the photographs as a part of her “spring cleaning,” presumably to suggest the removal of her belongings was unrelated to her conversation with Calvin that Thursday. (ALC R. p. 80.) But, in her appeal to this Court, Crawford concedes she removed her belongings out of frustration to send a message to Allserv: “I did remove some but not all of my personal belongings from the office out of frustration. It was a measure taken to let Allserv know that I had concerns that needed immediate attention.” (R.p.276.) Crawford testified that this “measure” led her to conclude Crawford had finally followed through on her threats to quit, which, of course, is a logical conclusion to draw. (R.p.204, lines 1-15) (Calvin saying she felt Crawford “actually did quit, that she abandoned her job”).

Third, Crawford’s communications after not showing up for work Monday morning are further evidence of a voluntary quit. Crawford texted Calvin saying, “All I wanted was a thank you.” (R.p.206, lines 13-21; R.p.241.) Contrary to her testimony before the Tribunal, she did not deny saying she was quitting and looking for work elsewhere. Similarly, Crawford later emailed Calvin saying she “could no longer handle it” and was pushed “over the edge,” but again did not deny saying she was quitting and looking for work elsewhere. (R.p.268.)

Otherwise, Mitchell would have no reason to text back, “Make sure it is what you want to do.” (R.p.236.) This evidence bolsters the reliability of Calvin’s testimony that, on April 14th, Crawford said to her, “I’m going to find somewhere else to work.” (R.p.204, lines 1-15.)

In sum, (1) Crawford's threats to resign, (2) the clearing of her desk in order to "send a message," (3) her terse announcement that she "won't be in Monday," and (4) her communications to Calvin upon learning Allserv accepted her resignation all support the Panel's finding that Crawford voluntarily left employment without good cause.

C. The ALC Exceeded Its Authority in Overturning a Factual Finding of the Panel that was Supported by Substantial Evidence.

Despite the above evidence, the ALC found "there is no evidence in the record of an action or inaction with unavoidable ramifications taken by [Crawford]." (R.p.3) (quoting *Samuel*, 285 S.C. at 477, 330 S.E.2d at 301). The Court excused all of Crawford's behavior calculated to have Allserv believe she quit and found "Allserv took the action that terminated [Crawford]'s employment by deactivating her email account." For that reason, the ALC reasoned, DEW erred in deciding Crawford voluntarily left work, without good cause.

Admittedly, a reasonable person could have found the employment relationship did not end until Crawford's network access was deactivated. But it is equally plausible to conclude, as the Panel did, Crawford's actions caused the employment separation and the deactivation of network access does not indicate which party initiated the employment separation. Since the APA requires courts to defer to administrative entities "even though reasonable men might draw two

inconsistent conclusions from the evidence presented,”⁵ the ALC exceeded its authority in reversing the Panel’s decision on this basis.

CONCLUSION

In a recent ALC case concerning whether an employee voluntarily quit or was discharged, Chief Administrative Law Judge Anderson, put it well:

“ . . . [W]ords have consequences. [The employer] should not be expected to read [the employee’s] mind, if she was not serious about the statements she made. In light of [the employee]’s conduct surrounding her statements, the Panel properly found that [the employer’s] interpretation of her statements as a verbal resignation was reasonable.”