THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEALS FROM THE
ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

DEBORAH BROOKS DURDEN, ADMINSTRATIVE LAW JUDGE

CASE NO.: 16-ALJ-22-0380-AP

Patricia A. Crawford,

Respondent,

v.

South Carolina Department of Employment
and Workforce, and Allserv, Inc.

Appellants,

Appellate Case No. 2017-000669

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Patricia A. Crawford
183 Kerry Gibbons Drive
Chapin, SC 29636
(803) 312-5422

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

C. ARGUMENT

The focus of my argument is that I didn't resign from my position with Allserv, Inc. The timeline of events provides proof of that statement. I asked that certain improper activities be addressed. Including: illegal reimbursement practices-this was discussed with management on 3 different occasions over the course of my employment, not wanting to partake in the activity of rubbing my breasts on business proposals for "good luck", suggesting that the reason I'm not eligible for a bonus or a raise is because I'm a woman working in a male dominant industry, being coerced into not going to doctor appointments for PTSD therapy (underhanded threats from Tanya Calvin but held no substance when discussing flexibility with owner, Jeff Calvin, working in a hostile environment where I've been subjected to screaming, having objects thrown and other various abusive behavior that no reasonable person would find acceptable. Each of these issues were discussed during Appeal Tribunal telephone hearing. Tanya Calvin admitted knowledge of some of the issues listed however Jeff Calvin (owner) and his business partner/consultant (Kris Mitchell) were made aware of the volatility of her behavior on numerous occasions to other employees, vendors and subcontractors without any resolution.

Until April 18th, 2016, I had a tolerable working relationship with Tanya Calvin. We worked directly in close quarters together for the length of my employment. As agreed to and verified by Tanya Calvin, I was a good employee without any disciplinary occurrences. I had excellent relationships with all of the employees as well as managers and vendors.

Because of our continued growth I felt it was time to finally take care of the issues at hand so they no longer a distraction to the growth of our company. When Tanya Calvin realized that I was going to continue to pursue doing the right thing, she took the opportunity to manipulate the situation by saying I resigned. Tensions were high the week of April 11, 2016 and frustration flamed the hostility. I knew that my complaints would not be taken seriously. They hadn't been on the numerous times I brought it up before or when other employees brought the same issues to Allserv's attention; particularly to Tanya Calvin. On Friday, I brought my personal family pictures and personal office supplies home (office supplies wasn't unusual. It was done on a weekly basis over the weekend because I needed items while working remotely) Tanya Calvin was aware of this and my frustration. I returned to work on Saturday, April 16, 2016 for over 5 hours and Sunday, April 17, 2016 for 2 hours. While working on Saturday, I voiced my frustration to a manager with close personal ties to the owner: Jeff Calvin and business partner/consultant: Kris Mitchell to illicit a response. Within 5 minutes, Kris Mitchell contacted me via text. He promised to address all of the issues at hand and that they would finally be taken seriously but he couldn't right at that moment because he didn't want to upset anyone. He suggested that I take Monday April 18th, 2016 as a personal day to collect my thoughts and determine whether or not I would be able to continue working for Allserv. I concurred and decided to use Monday the 18th as a personal day. Kris Mitchell's authority was to be taken seriously as all Allserv employees have been advised to contact him in regards to situations Jeff Calvin or Tanya Calvin couldn't handle themselves. It was up to Kris Mitchell to make Tanya Calvin aware of our conversation. She stated that she never heard from him. However; I did send her a text message letting her know of my absence on Monday. She continued to correspond with me as if I were still an employee up until the evening of Sunday April 17th, 2016 including processing of a bank transfer.

Monday April 18th, 2016, I received numerous error messages that my Allserv email address password was incorrect. I attempted to call and text Tanya Calvin and Kris Mitchell and didn't receive a response until the afternoon from Tanya Calvin stating that they accept my resignation effective Thursday April 14th, 2016. I never resigned. There was no written resignation letter nor were there any emails or texts that validated my resignation ever occurring. I questioned her on how that was even possible considering I worked April 15th, 16th, 17th, early a.m. on the 18th. I have emails and texts that made it clear Monday was a personal day that were provided to SCDEW upon initially filing my claim. Below is a timeline of what and when documents were submitted.

April 29th, 2016-I submitted screenshots as well as emails, texts, etc. that substantiate my position regarding my separation to the attention of Shanelle at the following email address. greenvilleuihub@dew.sc.gov

May 3rd, 2016-I received a letter from the SCDEW stating my disqualification of benefits was due to not making enough money during the quarters reported. I contacted SCDEW monetary until to have this corrected as I had worked the full calendar year prior to filing claim. SCDEW asserted that Allserv, Inc. was responsible for reporting my wages. I provided my W2 and paystubs for all quarters in question. Allserv, Inc. again attempted to report my wages but they

were still incorrect. 1st occurrence: 1 QTR of wages 2nd occurrence: 2 QTRS of wages. This should have shown 4 QTRS. SCDEW made the correction based on the information I provided to them on May 10th, 2016 to Demetriss Haynes via email DHaynes@dew.sc.gov as opposed to the incorrect reporting of wages provided by Allserv. This discrepancy on Allserv's part caused a delay with the unemployment claims process.

May 13th, 2016- I received a letter from SCDEW fraud department stating that I was recently reported as working for Oasis. This was submitted by Allserv and Oasis as part of new hire reporting. I contacted SCDEW and provided employee record and paycheck information to prove that I wasn't employed by Oasis-Allserv, Inc. PEO. This discrepancy on Allserv's part caused a delay with the unemployment claims process.

June 6th, 2016-SCDEW Form APP-100 along with documentation to the SCDEW Appeal Tribunal via email to Michelle Adams. Her email address is Madams@dew.sc.gov. The notarized appeal form was submitted to SCDEW on June 6, 2016. I received an acknowledgement from Michelle Adams indicating the request for appeal form and additional supporting documentation for my case were received and submitted to the Appeal Tribunal on June 7, 2016. My Appeal Tribunal phone conference was scheduled for July 6, 2016.

I received the first determination letter and chose to appeal it. I had my telephone tribunal on July 6th, 2016. The cutoff for providing additional information was July 5th at 12:00 pm. I received an email from my former employer's attorney with what had been provided to unemployment. This email was sent at 9:13 am and I received/read it at 10:22 am. Upon review of the items sent, I noticed discrepancies with text messages missing responses, false statements, etc. I promptly pulled my phone record and screen shots of the same time period that was submitted by employer and they didn't match. In addition, I received a message from a current employee that stated she was asked to lie by my former employer in regards to my unemployment situation. I attempted to upload this to the SCDEW claimant site but received an error stating the file was too large. I did it page by page; it still gave me the same error message.

I contacted the main number for SCDEW and they suggested that I fax it instead. While my additional documents were being faxed, I also sent an email to SCDEW to the attention of Mr. Thomas in Columbia and Michelle Adams (Upstate Office) explaining my situation and attached the documents as well. I never heard back from either one. I explained this to tribunal officer but she refused it stating that I had time to provide the information prior to the hearing. Given the timeline above and circumstances, I politely disagreed but she wouldn't allow the additional information.

Final argument; Regarding the denial of Appeal to Tribunal:

September 9, 2016: I received an Appellate Panel Decision letter that upheld the disqualification determination decision; however prior to this, I was given the impression that I would be notified of a hearing. After filing my tribunal appeal, I received a letter from SCDEW letting me know the next steps of the process. I called on Monday, September 12th and was told by Annette, an